STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED
JUL 24 2020
SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2019-001296

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CARL RAY FRALEY, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Richard W. Vieth, Esq. (SC Bar #5711)
HENDERSON, BRANDT & VIETH, P.A.
360 E. Henry Street, Suite101
Spartanburg, SC 29302
(864) 699-5773

Stanley T. Case, Esq. (SC Bar #1158)
BUTLER, MEANS, EVINS & BROWNE, P.A.
234 N. Church Street
P.O. Box 451
Spartanburg, SC 29304
(864) 582-5630

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

The lower court's orders requiring the Appellant to register as a sex offender were controlled by an error of law and a factual conclusion that was without evidentiary support and the sex registration order must be reversed.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Carl Ray Fraley, Jr., has appealed the orders made in this case pursuant to Rule 203 of the South Carolina Rules of Appellate Practice. This case involves a negotiated plea pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25, 91 S. Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970). The plea entered in this case by the Appellant was an *Alford* plea.

The Appellant in this matter has denied on the record that he committed the original charge asserted by the State in this matter, which was criminal sexual conduct in the first degree (See, South Carolina Code §16-3-655(A) (1976), as amended). He has also denied on the record the allegations of the State of South Carolina pertaining to the crime referred to in the negotiated plea of “assault and battery in the first degree”. (See, §16-3-600 (C)(1)(a)(i) South Carolina Code, 1976, as amended). The negotiated plea by the Appellant in this case was made pursuant to South Carolina law and in accordance with the rights of the Appellant under the South Carolina Constitution and the United States Constitution which govern an *Alford* plea.

In response to questions by the sentencing judge on February 9, 2015, the Appellant specifically denied the allegations that the State made related to the reduced charges concerning the Appellant and his granddaughter, which occurred between the dates of August 9, 2010 and May 12, 2012. (R. p.41)

At the hearing on February 9, 2015, which involved the *Alford* plea, the Lower Court issued a ten-year sentence on Indictment #2015-0614 which was suspended upon the placement of Appellant on probation supervision for five years. The conditions of that supervision included home detention, and GPS monitoring from February 9, 2015 through January 1, 2016. A “No Contact Order” was issued and the Appellant was required to participate in a psychological sexual

evaluation in order to determine the appropriateness of sex offender registry action. The Appellant complied in all respects with the Orders of the Court.

Following an evaluation of the Appellant, on September 3, 2015, Leilani Lee, M.D., F.A.P.A., Assistant Professor of Psychiatry, issued a “Sexual Behaviors Consultation Evaluation Report”, which, significantly, did not contain a determination that the evidence indicated a risk by the Appellant to “reoffend sexually”.

On August 16, 2017, the lower court issued an order requiring sex offender registration, which the Appellant asserts was erroneously issued based upon the evaluation done by Dr. Paul Gunter, a respected and certified clinical sexologist in Spartanburg, South Carolina, and on the lack of relevant findings by the evaluator selected by the Attorney General’s Office, Assistant Professor of Psychiatry, Leilani Lee, who evaluated the Appellant on May 21, 2015 and May 27, 2015.

The Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider the Sex Registration Order and on October 24, 2018, a hearing was held in the Court of General Sessions on the Motion to Reconsider. At the hearing the Attorney General filed three exhibits, the Lower Court’s Order requiring sex offender registration dated August 16, 2017, the Motion of Appellant’s counsel to reconsider the sex registration order and the Assessment of Dr. Paul Gunter, L.M.F.T., L.P.C., Certified Criminal Sexologist dated November 14, 2013, which the Appellant had relied upon in filing the Motion to Reconsider.

At the October 24, 2018 hearing on the Motion to Reconsider, Dr. Gunter gave sworn testimony and testified fully concerning his opinion that it was not appropriate for the Appellant to be required to register as a sex offender. Dr. Gunter also testified that Dr. Lee’s assessment

actually strengthened his conclusion and recommendation that the Appellant should not be required to register as a sex offender.

On July 24, 2019, the lower court issued an Order Denying the Motion to Reconsider. The Appellant filed his Notice of Intent to Appeal that Order on August 1, 2019, with the Clerk of Court for Spartanburg County.

ARGUMENT

The lower court's orders requiring the Appellant to register as a sex offender were controlled by an error of law and a factual conclusion that was without evidentiary support and the sex registration order must be reversed.

The lower court's orders requiring the Appellant to register as a sex offender were controlled by an error of law and a factual conclusion that was without evidentiary support and the sex registration order must be reversed.

Section 23-3-430, South Carolina Code 1976, as amended, provides in pertinent part that every person convicted of certain designated criminal offenses, which are listed in Paragraph (C) shall be registered pursuant to the applicable provisions of Title 23, Chapter 3, Article 7, and their name will be included on the sex offender registry.

In this matter, the State initially charged the Appellant with criminal sexual conduct in the first degree pursuant to §16-3-655(A), South Carolina Code, 1976, as amended.

A conviction for criminal sexual conduct in the first degree would have required registration of the Appellant as a sexual offender. However, as a result of plea negotiations, the State of South Carolina agreed to allow the Appellant to enter a conditional plea to a lesser offense pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford*, 400 U.S. 25, 1S.Ct. 160, 27 L.Ed.2d 162 (1970).

The negotiated *Alford* plea in this matter allowed the Appellant to enter a conditional plea under §16-3-600(C) (1)(a)(i) under a revised indictment for assault and battery in the first degree.

The revised indictment agreed to by the State of South Carolina relates to Paragraph (D) of §23-3-430 of the South Carolina Code which provides that "upon conviction ... of an offense

not listed in this article, the presiding judge may order as a condition of sentencing that the person be included in the sex offender registry if good cause is shown by the solicitor.”

In this case, the lower court ordered that the Appellant would participate in a psychological sexual evaluation in order to determine the appropriateness of sex offender registry.

The “good cause” requirement found in §23-3-430(d) South Carolina Code, 1976, has been construed by the Supreme Court to mean that “the judge must consider the facts and circumstances of the case to make a determination of whether or not the evidence indicates a risk to reoffend sexually. See, *In the Interest of M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 692 S.E.2d 541, 2010 (emphasis supplied).

In this matter, the lower court committed an error of law by issuing an order that required Appellant to be in the sex offender registry based only upon a questionable determination that evidence existed to the effect that an assault and battery in the first degree had been committed by the Appellant.

In making such an order the lower court did not properly apply South Carolina law. The law is to the effect that the evidence must indicate that there is a “risk to reoffend sexually”. This contemplates both that a sexual offense has been committed in this first place, which was denied by the Defendant and is questionable based on this record, and that there is evidence in the record which indicates a risk to reoffend sexually. The proper legal standard was not applied by the judge and registration as a sex offender is not appropriate in this case as a matter of law because there was no evidence to support a finding of a risk to reoffend sexually concerning the Appellant in the record before the court.

At the outset, it is important to point out that the record in this case is entirely distinguishable from the record in the case of *In the Interest of M.B.H.*, 387 S.C. 323, 692 S.E.2d

541, 2010 (cited above). The *In the Interest of M.B.H.* decision involved a juvenile, who was fourteen years old at the time of the incident, and involved admitted sexual offenses involving both a ten year old boy and a twelve year old boy. The juvenile defendant admitted delinquency to the two charges of assault and battery of high and aggravated nature.

At the hearing in that case, in which the Appellant had admitted to the two charges of ABHAN, the solicitor recommended to the judge that the Appellant undergo an inpatient evaluation and be placed on the private sex offender registry.

At the dispositional hearing, the solicitor introduced the center's evaluation report to support the request for Appellant to be placed on the private sex offender registry. The judge relied on the professional findings and recommendations in that report, which concluded that good cause existed for placing the Appellant on the sexual offender registry.

The Court in the *In the Interest of M.B.H.* decision, concluded that the record was clear that the judge considered all the facts and circumstances of the case, both aggravating and mitigating, in determining that "there is a risk of sexual re-offense". The Court in that case found that such a determination by the sentencing judge was supported by the evidence in the record, which included professional findings and recommendations in the evaluation report.

Such professional findings and evaluations are not contained in this record and the record does not indicate a risk on the part of the Appellant to "reoffend sexually".

In this case, the report of Dr. Lee does not contain a finding to the effect that the Appellant should be placed on the register of sex offenders because she did not give an opinion that there is a risk that the Appellant will reoffend sexually. In point of fact, in this case, the report of Dr. Lee, in effect, shifted the burden of addressing whether the Appellant should be registered as a sex

offender to the court by proposing an erroneous question to be determined by the court, i.e., whether the court believed Mr. Fraley was guilty of a sexual offense without a trial. An examination of Dr. Lee's report demonstrates that Dr. Lee had no opinion as to whether the Appellant presented a risk to reoffend sexually such that he should be registered as a sex offender under the statute. Dr. Lee also erroneously advised the judge that an opinion by the judge as to whether the sex offense allegations against the Appellant were true would be the determining factor in whether the Appellant should be placed on the sex offender registry. This is clearly seen on page 1 of Dr. Lee's report:

“should the court opine that the sexual offense allegations against Mr. Fraley, as asserted are true, he would also meet criteria for a Pedophilic Disorder... However, should the court find that the allegations against Mr. Fraley are not true, he would not meet criteria for a Pedophilic Disorder. Thus, based on the lack of the diagnosis of Pedophilic Disorder and his ability to refrain from sexually offending children, it would not be recommended that Mr. Fraley register as a sex offender in the state of South Carolina.” (R. p.61)

The opinions of Dr. Lee are equivocal and do not support placing the Appellant on the sexual offender registry.

It is important in this case that the Appellant denied on the record that the allegations made by the State of South Carolina against him were true. This denial is contained in the transcript of record at the hearing on February 9, 2015. (R. p.41, Lines 17-20)..

In the transcript of the record of the sentencing hearing, the lower court had the following exchange with the Appellant concerning the allegations made against him by the State of South Carolina, as stated by the attorney from the Attorney General's Office:

The Court: All right. Well, let me put it this way. The attorney general says that you committed sexual abuse, sexual acts, against your granddaughter. Do you recall her recitation of facts?

The Defendant: Yes, Sir.

The Court: She claims you committed criminal sexual acts against your granddaughter. Do you understand that?

The Defendant: I do.

The Court: Do you agree or disagree with her allegations, her representation as to what the facts are?

The Defendant: I disagree that I did it, but I'm willing to accept the sentence of the Court.

The Court: Well, I understand but that – we're getting there. But right now my question is did you agree with her version of those facts.

The Defendant: No, sir.

(R. p.41. Lines 5-20)

However, the Appellant in accordance with South Carolina law and his constitutional rights pursuant to *North Carolina v. Alford, supra*, agreed to the reduced charge and the negotiated sentence and made the decision to enter the *Alford* plea.

In this case, as testified to by Dr. Gunter, the State's evidence as to whether there was any sexual offense by the Appellant concerning his granddaughter was questionable and speculative and there was no evidence that there was any risk to reoffend sexually by the Appellant. Dr. Paul Gunter testified as follows with regard to the questionable nature of the charges against the Appellant and his opinion that the Appellant should not be placed on the sex offender's registry because he did not present a risk to reoffend sexually. The following testimony by Dr. Gunter is

clear and is not contradicted. It indicates that Dr. Lee's assessment is actually supportive of Dr. Gunter's conclusion that Appellant should not be placed on the sexual offender registry:

A: And so I was grateful to receive Dr. Lee's assessment to fill in some gaps for me, which it did. And after spending quite a bit of time with her report and getting some consultation as well from the people at Abel Assessment, I didn't change my decision as far as my recommendation about being on the registry. It strengthened it. Enough said about that.

Q: I'll let you take it from there. Strengthen it in what way?

A: Well, there are two principles or two problems that exist in this – in this case. There are serious problems in the credibility of allegations that were made, and it's up to someone else to decide whether or not they're going to choose to believe that. But there are as many, almost as many, accusations against Mr. Fraley as there are denials that anything happened.

His girlfriend at the time, Mimmie, is accused of sexually molesting him three times. And she hasn't been tried or charged, I don't believe.

Q: Let me stop you one second so the Court knows where we are.

As far as – and Judge Cole may very well – but you're referring to the M.U.S.C. report where she talked about the inconsistencies –

A: Yes.

Q: -- on the tapes of the girl.

A: Yes. If you want to look at the page, it's page 16.

Q: Yes, sir. All right.

A: I just gleaned them out –

Q: No. That's fine – that's fine. I just want to make sure it's clear here. Go ahead.

A: Well, she goes on to say that her grandfather was a mass murderer and that she was one of his victims and then accused her parents of attempting to murder her grandfather because they saw him doing something bad to her.

The problems with all of that erratic inconsistency is what are we – what do we stand on and how do we make the decision, because there's really no definitive data

to support a sexual offense anywhere except that forensic interview with those five snippets from forensic interviews where in four of them she said something happened, but some of those she also said nothing happened. So it's too inconsistent. So much so, I've never seen this happen in 16 years of doing this. DSS did not accept the report given by the alleged victim.

My experience has been DSS just needs about that much for them to move forward on a case. I've seen them move forward on much less, or in this situation.

It's significant to me that she identifies five eye witnesses of her being sexually abused by Mr. Fraley. All of them have been questioned. Four of them have clearly said I've never seen anything. So to me that's significant because they're all older and more mature, and if they saw something you'd sure think they would report it.

So the principle of it, there are serious problems with the credibility of the allegations, is one.

The second one is there's credible clinical evidence to support that he's a low risk or no risk and not a threat to society and therefore not appropriate for the sex offender registry. Two independent clinical assessments came up with the same conclusion about him not being a threat.

He self reports that he does not have current sexual fantasies involving children. That was confirmed by both reports.

He does not use cognitive distortions that are used commonly by sexual abuse – those who sexually abuse children. His probability score is low showing that he's not similar at all to a denier simulator who molests children and attempts to conceal it.

There's no evidence of psychopathy, which is a mental condition where you lack a moral compass and the ability to learn from mistakes and the ability to have loving relationships.

He's lived successfully in the community without incurring another offense or a single offense, and the risk of recidivism declines the longer a sex offender lives in the community.

His primary sexual interests are in adult adolescent females, which is appropriate for a heterosexual male. And he's not been diagnosed with any condition that would impair his ability to refrain from acting on sexual impulse with children.

So when I see all of that together I think to make the jump from that to you need to be on the registry, just from my point of view as a professional, seems overreaching. It seems incongruent. So that's what I would say.

Q: All right. Your opinion based on your evaluation and the evaluation from the report out of Charleston, there's nothing in any of these reports saying in my opinion he's a pedophile and needs to register, is there?

A: Dr. Lee doesn't make a decision. I would say her – hers is inconclusive and it hinges on whether or not you believe the reported allegations of the little girl.

And I was compelled by many of the things that she concluded in her report, as well as the Abel Assessment, to stick my neck out a little further and say it doesn't fit.

I've worked with – done sex offender treatment for Spartanburg County for 16 years now. I've worked with several hundred sex offenders and feel like I know them fairly well. That don't mean I don't get fooled every now and again, but it just seems like a square peg in a round hole in this situation.

Dr. Paul Gunter, direct examination (R. p. 115, Line 9-; R. p.119, Line 12) of record October 24, 2018, Page 17, at Line 9 through Page 21, Line 12

The record also demonstrates improper reliance by the lower court on confusing and questionable testing procedures relating to sexual arousal and lie detector examinations (See, Billips v. Commonwealth, 274 Va. 805, 652 S.E.2d 99 (2007) ; and State v. Pressley, 290 S.C. 251, 349 S.E.2d 403 (1986) which are discussed in the Appellant's Motion for Reconsideration).

Additionally, this matter involves a very difficult family situation with a great deal of division between the family members.

A number of the reasons that the State of South Carolina and the Appellant made a determination to enter into the negotiated plea agreement are enunciated in the record of the *Alford* plea and demonstrate the questionable nature of the State's evidence which led to the negotiated

plea agreement. The record contains the following exchange between the Lower Court and Appellant's counsel:

The Court: All right. I'll accept your guilty plea and hear from you and Mr. Vieth and anybody else on your behalf.

Mr. Vieth: May it please the Court, Your Honor.

This is one of the most difficult cases. This Court has been on the bench a long time and I've been practicing law a long time, and it's a very difficult case when you have families that have this much division between them, and it's unfortunate.

This case has been going on for three years, and the anxiety of it ends today. We're done. The pain of it is going to last for probably ever between the Fraley family and children. The pain's not going to go away. The question is always going to be whether or not it actually happened or not.

Until yesterday I had every intention that we'd be giving opening statements today in a trial, and we were prepared to go forward with a – what we felt was a good defense, just as the prosecutor feels like they had a good position of guilt.

When you talk about seeking justice, sometimes justice is a compromise. Sometimes you have to look at it in strength and weaknesses of both sides and take a look at what the best opportunity or options are for both sides and see if you can reach some solution.

One solution if we went to trial and was found not guilty, The child might be damaged irreparably for thinking some didn't believe her.

If they go to trial and Rusty doesn't win it, it's basically a life sentence – 67 years old with a mandatory 25 years.

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