STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

Jul 08 2020

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2019-001296

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

CARL RAY FRALEY, JR.,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

MARK R. FARTHING
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

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

³ Although a defendant has a right to plead guilty, a trial judge is under no absolute obligation to accept such a plea. Reed v. Becka, 333 S.C. 676, 685, 511 S.E.2d 396, 401 (Ct. App. 1999).

Alford, 400 U.S. 25, 37 (1970) (“[W]hile most pleas of guilty consist of both a waiver of trial and an express admission of guilt, the latter element is not a constitutional requisite to the imposition of criminal penalty. An individual accused of crime may voluntarily, knowingly, and understandingly consent to the imposition of a prison sentence even if he is unwilling or unable to admit his participation in the acts constituting the crime.”); see also Baxley v. State, 255 S.C. 283, 286, 178 S.E.2d 535, 536 (1971) (recognizing the validity of guilty pleas entered pursuant to Alford in South Carolina). As a result, all that is necessary for a guilty plea to be validly entered is: (1) it was knowingly, voluntarily, and understandingly made by the defendant; and (2) there is a factual basis for the plea. Gaines v. State, 335 S.C. 376, 380, 517 S.E.2d 439, 441 (1999); see Zurcher v. Bilton, 379 S.C. 132, 136, 666 S.E.2d 224, 226-227 (2008) (“The Alford court reasoned that so long as a factual basis exists for a plea, the Constitution does not bar sentencing a defendant who makes a calculated choice to accept a beneficial plea arrangement rather than face overwhelming evidence of guilt.”).

Importantly, a validly-entered guilty plea—including one entered pursuant to Alford—carries the same effect in the law in South Carolina as a guilty verdict returned by a jury and constitutes “a conviction that can deprive [a criminal defendant] of his liberty or other constitutionally protected interests.” State v. Nesbitt, 411 S.C. 194, 200, 768 S.E.2d 67, 70 (2015); see Sanders v. Leake, 254 S.C. 444, 447, 175 S.E.2d 796, 797 (1970) (explaining a guilty plea “has the same effect in law as a verdict of guilty”); see also United States v. Broce, 488 U.S. 563, 569 (1989) (“A plea of guilty and the ensuing conviction comprehend all of the factual and legal elements necessary to sustain a binding, final judgment of guilt and a lawful sentence.”); Blohm v. Comm’r of Internal Revenue, 994 F.2d 1542, 1555 (11th Cir. 1993) (“A guilty plea’s basic chemistry is not transformed by a concurrent claim of innocence. The collateral

consequences stemming from a guilty plea remain the same whether or not accompanied by an assertion of innocence.”). In fact, entry of a valid guilty plea pursuant to Alford can lead to and result in the imposition of *the death penalty* in our state. State v. Ray, 310 S.C. 431, 435, 427 S.E.2d 171, 173 (1993).

By entering a valid guilty plea regardless of the manner in which it is entered, a criminal defendant waives all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses and leaves open for review only the sufficiency of the indictment. State v. Thomason, 341 S.C. 524, 526, 534 S.E.2d 708, 710 (Ct. App. 2000); see State v. Munsch, 287 S.C. 313, 314, 338 S.E.2d 329, 330 (1985) (explaining a defendant “waived any right to complain of the sufficiency of the evidence against him with his plea of nolo contendere”); State v. Snowdon, 371 S.C. 331, 333, 638 S.E.2d 91, 92 (Ct. App. 2006) (“Generally, a knowing and voluntary guilty plea waives all non-jurisdictional defects and defenses, including claims of constitutional violations.”). Thus, once a guilty plea has been entered, nothing remains but for a circuit court judge to enter judgment against the defendant and determine the appropriate punishment for the defendant’s crime. See Boykin v. Alabama, 395 U.S. 238, 242 (1969) (“A plea of guilty is more than a confession which admits that the accused did various acts; it is itself a conviction; nothing remains but to give judgment and determine punishment.”). Moreover, irrespective of whether the plea involved a direct admission of guilt or was made pursuant to Alford, the defendant becomes estopped from further litigating the issue of guilt upon entry and acceptance of a valid guilty plea. See Zurcher, 379 S.C. at 136, 666 S.E.2d at 226-227 (“[S]o long as a defendant has entered a guilty plea freely and voluntarily, an admission of guilt fully and fairly litigates the matter in the same manner as a contested trial in which a defendant is adjudicated guilty. . . . An Alford plea is not distinguishable from a standard guilty plea in this regard.” (footnote omitted)); see also Argot v. State, 583 S.E.2d 246,

249 (Ga. Ct. App. 2003) (“An Alford plea is . . . a guilty plea and places the defendant in the same position as if there had been a trial and conviction by a jury.”); Klose v. State, 752 N.W.2d 192, 199 (N.D. 2008) (“An Alford plea is a final plea of guilty[.]”).

Significantly, one potential consequence of a criminal conviction in South Carolina is the offender may be ordered to register as a sex offender. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(A). If an offender is convicted of certain specified offenses, a trial judge must order that offender to so register. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(C). Meanwhile, if an offender is convicted of a crime not automatically mandating registration, a trial judge has discretionary authority to order that offender to register as a sex offender “if good cause is shown by the solicitor.” S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(D); see M.B.H., 387 S.C. at 327, 692 S.E.2d at 542 (“[A] finding of good cause in this context means only that the judge must consider the facts and circumstances of the case to make the determination of whether or not the evidence indicates a risk to reoffend sexually.”). Significantly, such a registration order is non-punitive in nature and may—and potentially must—be imposed regardless of whether the offender’s conviction resulted from a jury verdict, guilty plea, adjudication of juvenile delinquency, or plea of nolo contendere. State v. Walls, 348 S.C. 26, 31, 558 S.E.2d 524, 526 (2002); see S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(A) (making sex offender registry requirements applicable to offenders who are “convicted of, adjudicated delinquent for, pled guilty or nolo contendere to” certain offenses); see also Silmon v. Travis, 741 N.E.2d 501, 504 (N.Y. 2000) (“Like any other guilty plea, [an Alford plea] may be used as a predicate for civil and criminal penalties . . .”).

In the case sub judice, Appellant was convicted of first-degree assault and battery after he entered a valid, unconditional guilty plea pursuant to Alford to that offense. By entering that guilty plea, Appellant was guilty in the eyes of the law of the offense to which he pled, and that

offense—as directly acknowledged by Appellant during the plea proceedings—involved the non-consensual touching of Victim’s private parts with lewd and lascivious intent. See Zurcher, 379 S.C. at 137, 666 S.E.2d at 227 (“[T]he entry of an Alford plea at a criminal proceeding has the same preclusive effect as a standard guilty plea.”); State v. Allen, 261 S.C. 448, 451, 200 S.E.2d 684, 686 (1973) (“Where a defendant voluntarily, intelligently and understandingly enters a plea of guilty, this makes it unnecessary for the State to offer evidence to prove the offense charged in the warrant or indictment.”); see also Carroll v. Commonwealth, 701 S.E.2d 414, 419 (Va. 2010) (“A defendant’s protestations of innocence under an Alford plea extend only to the plea itself. . . . Whatever the reason for entering an Alford plea, the fact remains that when a defendant enters such a plea, he becomes a convicted sex offender and is treated no differently than he would be had he gone to trial and been convicted by a jury.” (quoting State ex rel. Warren v. Schwarz, 579 N.W.2d 698 (Wis. 1998))). Therefore, based on Appellant’s entry of the guilty plea, the plea judge had a valid basis upon which to believe Appellant was, in fact, guilty of committing a sexual offense upon his minor granddaughter and to treat Appellant just as he would any other offender convicted of such an offense.⁴ See Herndon, 403 S.C. at 93, 742 S.E.2d at 380

⁴ In arguing the plea judge’s decision to order him to register as a sex offender was controlled by an error of law and lacking in evidentiary support, Appellant focuses on appeal on the fact he expressly denied guilt while entering his guilty plea pursuant to Alford and, by doing so, ignores the fact his entry of that guilty plea—regardless of how he chose to enter it—conclusively established his guilt for the offense to which he pled for all legal purposes. See Herndon, 403 S.C. at 93, 742 S.E.2d at 380 (“[U]nder South Carolina law, the Alford plea does not create a special category of defendant exempt from the punishment applicable to her conviction.”); Shelnut v. State, 247 S.C. 41, 45-46, 145 S.E.2d 420, 422 (1965) (By their voluntary *submission to a verdict of guilty*, the defendants admitted all material allegations of the indictment, including those relating to the situs of the crime, thus waiving a trial and the presentation of evidence. These admissions are as conclusive upon them as the verdict of a jury would be.” (emphasis added)); see also State v. T.D., 944 A.2d 288, 297 (Conn. 2008) (“If a defendant has been convicted of criminal conduct, following either a guilty plea, Alford plea or a jury trial, and the defendant does not challenge that conviction by timely appealing it, *then the conviction conclusively establishes that the defendant engaged in that criminal conduct.*” (emphasis

("[U]nder South Carolina law, the Alford plea does not create a special category of defendant exempt from the punishment applicable to her conviction."); see also Haffner v. Saulters, 77 S.W.3d 45, 48 (Mo. Ct. App. 2002) (rejecting Haffner's contention he could not be required to register as a sex offender due to the fact he entered his guilty plea pursuant to Alford and instructing Hafner's plea subjected him "to the criminal penalty for abuse of a child" because "[a] plea of guilty is a plea of guilty"); cf. United States v. Glenn, 744 F.3d 845, 848 (2d Cir. 2014) ("[U]nder Connecticut procedure, acceptance of an Alford plea represents a conclusion on the part of the court and the defendant himself that the evidence of guilt is so strong that a jury is likely to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt. As such a conclusion is constitutionally sufficient to permit entry of a judgment of guilt, a later court does not abuse its discretion by relying on such a plea to determine by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant committed the charged offense.").

Likewise, based on Dr. Lee's findings during her psychological sexual evaluation of Appellant, the plea judge had evidence before him supporting a conclusion Appellant was a risk to sexually reoffend. Specifically, amongst the risk factors Dr. Lee identified, Dr. Lee confirmed in her thorough report Appellant scored in the seventieth percentile on a test in which higher percentages equated to a higher likelihood to reoffend. Similarly, Dr. Lee reported Appellant displayed during a PPG examination—which was an examination Appellant's own expert characterized as having "impressive" reliability—signs of clinically-significant deviant sexual arousal to scenarios involving the coercion of prepubescent children, which she explained was

added)); People v. Jones, 789 N.Y.S.2d 382, 383 (N.Y. App. Div. 2005) (explaining evidence the prosecutor asserted during the plea hearing was going to be presented if the case proceeded to trial was "deemed established" for purposes of sex offender classification by Jones's entry of a guilty plea pursuant to Alford).

associated with a risk for sexual recidivism.⁵ See State v. Cantrell, 250 S.C. 376, 379-380, 158 S.E.2d 189, 191 (1967) (“Highly relevant, if not essential, to his selection of an appropriate sentence is the possession of the fullest information possible concerning the defendant’s life and characteristics.”); see also In re Commitment of Sandry, 857 N.E.2d 295, 309 (Ill. App. Ct. 2006) (explaining “a significant subset of experts considers PPG testing a useful tool for treating and evaluating sex offenders”). Furthermore, Dr. Lee directly opined Appellant would meet the criteria for a pedophilic disorder and should be ordered to register as a sex offender if the plea judge believed the allegations were true, which the plea judge certainly could have legitimately done in light of the fact Appellant was *convicted of* a criminal offense stemming from those allegations. See Herndon, 403 S.C. at 95, 742 S.E.2d at 381 (“[A]n Alford plea is merely a guilty plea with the gloss of judicial grace allowing a defendant to enter a plea in her best interests. . . . [T]he defendant entering an Alford plea is *still treated as guilty* for purposes of punishment, and simply put, is not owed anything merely because the State and the court have agreed to deviate from the standard guilty plea.” (emphasis added)); Zurcher, 379 S.C. at 136-137, 666 S.E.2d at 227 (explaining a defendant who decides to enter a guilty plea pursuant to Alford in order to receive the benefit of a plea arrangement “must likewise accept the collateral consequences of that decision”); see also State v. Johnson, 413 S.C. 458, 468, 776 S.E.2d 367, 372 (2015) (“[T]here is no requirement under the law that the trial court must believe a criminal defendant’s version of events.”).

⁵ Significantly, since the plea judge was directly presented with Appellant’s own expert’s opinion regarding the “impressive” validity and reliability of PPG examinations, there certainly was not a total absence of any foundation in Appellant’s case for the plea judge to find the PPG examination results were sufficiently reliable to be considered. Cf. Billips v. Commonwealth, 652 S.E.2d 99, 102 (Va. 2007) (holding the results of a PPG examination were improperly admitted during the sentencing proceedings in Billips’s case because the record in that particular case was “devoid of any evidence of the reliability of plethysmograph testing”).

Based on Appellant’s conviction for a sexual offense involving a minor coupled with the existence of the risk factors identified through the psychological sexual evaluation, the plea judge had a legitimate basis upon which to find good cause existed to believe Appellant was a risk to sexually reoffend, and, therefore, the plea judge properly could and did order Appellant to register as a sex offender pursuant to South Carolina law. S.C. Code Ann. § 23-3-430(D); see Fuller, 425 S.C. at 481, 822 S.E.2d at 917 (“[T]he trial court acted within its discretion in ordering Fuller to register as a sex offender because of evidence that the kidnapping charge of which he was convicted included an attempted criminal sexual offense.”); cf. State v. Francis, 76 A.3d 744, 748 (Conn. App. Ct. 2013) (rejecting Francis’s appellate contention the trial court judge’s factual findings were clearly erroneous because Francis’s entry of a guilty plea pursuant to Alford “furnished an ample basis for the court, in the adjudicative phase of the [probation revocation] proceeding, to find that he violated his probation”). Furthermore, because the plea judge properly considered all the facts and circumstances before him and had factual support for his determination, the plea judge in no way abused his discretion or committed any other legal error by doing so.⁶ See M.B.H., 387 S.C. at 327, 692 S.E.2d at 542-543 (holding the family court judge did not abuse his discretion by discretionarily ordering M.B.H. to register as a sex offender when “[t]he judge relied on the professional findings and recommendations in [an evaluation] report in concluding good cause existed for placing [M.B.H.] on the registry” and

⁶ Notably, in ordering Appellant to register as a sex offender, the plea judge specifically explained he did not consider Appellant’s polygraph results. (R. p. 143). Thus, even if it would have been improper for him to base his decision in whole or in part on those results, the plea judge obviously did not err in a manner prejudicial to Appellant by *not* doing so in Appellant’s case. Cf. Sandry, 857 N.E.2d at 307 (“[W]e do note that the trial judge expressly disavowed any reliance on the results of the polygraph examination in making his decision, emphatically stating that petitioner would never be required to pass a polygraph test before the court would find him eligible for conditional release. . . . Quite simply, the trial court did not rely on this evidence, and petitioner was therefore not prejudiced by its admission. Any alleged error was harmless, and we need not consider this issue further.”).

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